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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

KAREN SMITH , ex rel. : CIVIL ACTION
V. : NO. 11-2756
CAROLINA MEDICAL CENTER, et al.

MEMORANDUM
STENGEL, C. J. August 2, 2017

Karen Smith, the former clinical director at a mental health cimiorth Carolina, filed
a qui tam complaininder the False Claims A@FCA), 31 U.S.C. § 372%t seq., alleging that
an “excluded persgir—Melchor Martinezwho had been convicted of Medicaid fraud in
2000—wasimproperly managingheclinic as well as several otheendthat these clinics were
concealing this fact, thereby rendering their Medicare and Medicaidgsitfraudulent. She
brought her claims against three corporations that owned the clinics: Carolina Ciynmun
Mental Health Centsr Inc., Northeast Community Mental Health Centirs., and Lehigh
Valley Community Mental Health Cengginc.

Several years latehe governmet intervened, expanding the scope o thwsuit to
includeFCA claimsfor otherimproper billing practices and common law claims for unjust
enrichment and frauédndadding as defendanidartinez himselfhis wife, Melissa Chlebowski,
three ofthe clinics’ administratorsJorge Acosta, Nancy Seier, and Patricia Erohpaod
corporations formed by Martinez and Chlebowski, MM Consultants and MCM Bethlehem.
Some of thelefendantsnoved to dismiss, and the others moved for judgment on the pleadings.

Now, for the reasons stated below, | will deny the defendants’ motions.

! As the “relator,” Karen Smith also broughtlaim under the North Carolina False
Claims Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-6@6seq.
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND
The government and relatdarenSmithallege the following:

A. Martinez, Chlebowski, and the Clinics

In the mid and late 1990sef@ndant Melchor Martineawned and operated three
outpatient mental health clinics in Pennsylvania: two cliniader the corporate ownership of
Lehigh Valley Community Healt@enters, Ing.and theseparaté®edro Arias Melchor Martinez
(PAMM) Human Resources Clinic in Philadelphia. (Gov't Compl. 182§ His wife, Melissa
Chlebowski, was an administrator at these clini¢g. 1[(38.)

In 2000, Martinezvas convicted oMedicaid fraudn the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania “for billing for psychotherapy services not rendered and falsificd records” at
PAMM. (Id. 114, 28.) (Unlike Medicarewhich isadministeredy the federal Department of
Health and Human ServicddHlS), Medicaidis administered by the statasd funded jointly by
them and the federal governmed2 U.S.C. § 1396t seqg. (Id. 11 55-72)) As aresult,
Martinezwas prohibited by federal law from participating in Mediaar&ledicaidfor ten years,
after which hecould seek readmission. 42 U.S.C. S. 132@g- (Gov't Compl.190-92.)
Both HHS andthe Pennsylvania Department of Public Welfare (DWP) notified him of his
exclusionand its effects (1d. 1190, 91)

While criminal proceedings were underway agalmm, Martinez transferred histock
ownership of the Lehigh Valley Corporation to Chlebowski. The caalpteclosed the
Philadelphia clinicPAMM, and created newcorporation, Northeast Community Mentaldtté
Centers, InG.which began operating &rac thatassumed the patient population and employees

of PAMM. (Id. 1126, 31, 38.)



Since 2000, Martinez has continued to operate these clinics with Chlebowski despite his

exclusion. They expanded the busiegsspening threether clinicsunderthe Lehigh Valley

corporation, three more undie Northeastorporation, and one clinic in North Carolina under

a corporatiorcalled theCarolina Community Mental Health Centers, which the couple created in

2008. (d. 116, 7, 25-27, 34, 38, 183—88mih Compl. 1 32, 36.Martinez actively directed

the daily operation of the clinics, led their recruitment efforts, managiédastd profited from

their billings, nearly all of which came from Medicaid and Medicaté. Y(36; Gov’'t Compl. 11

95-155.) Specifically, Martinez:

interviewed, hired, and fired staff, as well as negotiated their
compensation and responsibilities, (id. 1 119, Ex. C; Smith Compl. {1
36, 37);

instructed staff on how to bill for services, (Gov't Compl. | 147, Ex. I,
Smith Compl. § 36);

ordered staff t@lterdoctors’notes in patient treatment chariGov’t
Compl. § 134);

monitored the productivity of the clinic#ierapists and psychiatrists

by reviewing production reports regularly provided to him, (id. { 120);
determined caseloadschedules, and responsibilitiestioérapists
psychiatristsand staff, (idf{ 13233, 138, 146);

trained therapists on topics including patient treatment, treatment
documentation, and billing, (id. {1 1483; Ex. J)

monitored patient intake and volume, including by calling the front

desk at the clinics to ask about the numbers of patients that had been



processed, receiving lists of new patients, {ff{L44-45, Ex. F), and
viewing live data feed from sueulance cameras in the clinicgl.( 11
139-40, Ex. H);

e directed the implementation of a new electronic medical records
system, id. 1 143, Ex. D);

e attended meetings of clinical supervisdid. 150, Ex. K); and

e led patient recruiting effortgid. 7 154.)

Thecouple hidMartinez’'sinvolvement by usg Chlebowski's name on legal documents
anddisguisingMartinez’sreceipt of profits as rentThe rent profits were charged by either
Martinez himselor one of two corporate entities he and Chlebovskned—MM Consultants
or MCM Bethlehem Property, LLC—who owned many of the properties on which thescli
operated (Id. 71 7-8, 36, 38, 39-44, 105, 185-90.) Martinez earned over $35,000 per month in
rent from the clinics.(Id. {1 190.) The clinics also paid for renovations on the properties,
including a $200,000 renovation to a clinic in Allentown in 2010,(itP2), and a $700,000
improvement to a site iBethlehem(ld. 1193.) Additionally,Martinez traveled on the
companies’ credit cardgld. 1177, 201)

Chlebowski certified multiple times, @003, 2005, 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010 on
Medicareand Medicaictlinic enrollmentformsandin Medicaid provider reimbursement
applications that no excluded person was an operator, director, manager, agent, consultant
owner of the clinics. Id. 19223-29.) She never notified Medicare or Medicaid of the
involvement of an excluded person, although the clinics continued to submit claims fonpayme
(Id. 11 230;Smith Compl. 1 35 And she faely denied tdMedicaidthatany excluded person

had araffiliation with or dayto-day involvement in the clinics. (Gov't Compl. § 231.) In 2010,



Martinez falséy statel to the government in his apgation to HHS for reinstatemetitat he had
not been associated with any clinic or employed at all since his exclfgiofi.93, Ex. A.)He
has not been nestated (Id.)

B. Acosta, Seier, and Eroh

The government also brings claims agaihste of the clinics’ other administrasorthe
clinics’ clinical and educational director, Jorge Acosta, the clinics’ humanness director,
Nancy Seier, and the clinics’ billing director, Patricia Erglal.. 1 12-13) Acosta acted as
Martinez’s “right hand man” and attempted to concealttMez’s involvement. 1d. 1946-48.)
Seier similarly carried out Martinez’s orders, made his travel arrangeraadtstherwise acted
formally in his stead, knowing that he was excluded from participatidn§{ 49-51.) Eroh
submitted claims to Machid and Medicare despite her knowledge of Martinez’s exclusion, and
knowing that the claims misrepresented the services provided.

C. Overbilling

In addition to submitting false clainas a result oMartinez’s involvement in the clinics,
the defendantalso allegedlysubmitted false claims by overbilling for servicdhe clinics
submitted claims to Medicaid for patianedication management visits, “med checks,” that
falsely represented that the visits &kfifteen minutes-one payable unit—when fact they
frequently lasted fewedhan ten or even five minutedd.(11242, 254, 255.) Additionally la
the defendants except for Carolsuzbmitted claims tdedicareandMedicaid for the services
of people purporting to be therapists but who in fact had not completed the requisitésmaste
degrees.(Id. 11 284-94.)Lastly, theclinics billed for services provided by auxiliary personnel

as though they had been supervised by physicians when they had notlébe%$ 3@8-13.)



On several occasions, Pennsylvania behaliwalth services management companies
working on behalf of state Medicaid administratoesdited the clinicand found violations.
They found that gychiatrists at the Northeast and Lehigh Valley clinics had fadedocument
‘clock times’ in and out for several” med checks in 2009 and 2082 §{ 248, 250.) fe
Pennsylvania Medicaid administrators then “recouped overpayments based ontduesamiple
of records reviewed.{ld.) Other audits in 2003, 2005, 2007, 2009, and 2013 revealed that
Northeast was billing for services provided by individuals who lacked the regaisdentials to
be a therapts. (d. 1 286, 288. However, the government does not allege tihatMedicaid
administratorsecouped paymesion this basis.

D. Procedural History

Thedefendants, in two groupBled motions to dismissdefendants Jorge Acosta, Nancy
Seier, and Patricia Eroh (thadministratodefendants”Jiled jointly, and defendants Carolina
Community Mental Health Centers, Inc., Northeast Community Mental Heatiie/Gdnc.,
Lehigh Valley Community Mental Health Cerdeinc., Melissa Chlebowski, and MCM
Bethlehem Propey (the “Clinic defendants™jiled their own joint motion Defendants Melchor
Martinez and MM Consténts, LLC filed an answethen filed a motion for judgment on the
pleadings and joined the other defendants’ motions to dismiss.

After theconclusion of the briefing on these motions, the Supreme Court handed down

Universal Health Services United States ex rel. Escobathich defendants argued was

2 Pennsylvania counties contract with privaestor managed care organizations
(“MCOs") to manage Medicaid behavioral health services for Medicaid respi¢Biov’t
Compl. § 61, 62). These MCOs “are responsible for authorizing Medicaid payments&b ment
health providers and requiring providers to deliver effective and medicallgssegeservices.
They are charged with assuring that providers comply with all federal dadasta governing
participation in the [Medicaid] program and all applicable DPW regulations ydaliketins and
clarifications.” (d. { 64) Two MCQOs, Community Behavior Healdnd Magellanaudited the
Northeast clinics. Id. 11 286-92).



relevant to this casel36 S. Ct. 1996 (2016). The parties then submitted additional briefs in
light of that case.
. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Typically, a complaint must set forth “a short and plain statement of the clainmnghow
that the pleader is entitled to reliefFed.R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). The complaint must contain
“sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that isopgas its

face.” Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v.

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). In a qui tam action, howévenelator and the
government must plead the circumstances constituting Wwebdarticularity,in conformity

with Rule 9(b). Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). The purpose of Rule 9(b) is “to place the defendants on
notice of the precise misconduct with which they are charged, and to safeguardridsefenda

against spurious charges of immoral and fraudulent behavior.” Seville Indus. Mach. Corp. v.

Southmost Mach. Corp., 742 F.2d 786, 791 (3d Cir. 1984).

The Court of Appeals has adopted a “nuanced reading” of Rule®dey whickit is
sufficient for a plaintiff to allege ‘particular details of a scheme to submit ttdsms paired
with reliable indicia that lead to a strong inference that claims were actuathiteeds” Foglia

v. Renal Ventures MgmtLLC, 754 F.3d 153, 156 (3d Cir. 2014) (quotidgited States ex rel.

Grubbs v. Kanneganti, 565 F.3d 180, 190 (5th Cir. 20098inti#fs need not submit

“ representative samples’ of the alleged fraudulent conduct, specifyinghtheptace, and
content otthe acts and the identity of the actoréd. However,“[d] escribing a mere
opportunity for fraud willnot suffice. Sufficient facts to establish plausible ground for relief

must be alleged.’ld. at 158.



A defendant may challenge the sufficierfya complaint undeRules
8(a) or 9(b) through a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) or a motion for judgment on

the pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c). Turbe v. Gov't of Virgin Is., 938 F.2d 427, 428 (3d Cir.

1991). In decidingvhether relatoand the governmetated a claiml may consider “the
allegations contained in the complaint, exhibits attached to the complaint and rofgeblic

record.” Pension Ben. Guar. Corp. v. White Consol. Indus., Inc., 998 F.2d 1192, 1196 (3d Cir.

1993). lam required to accept as true all of the fdallagations in the complaiind all
reasonable inferences permitted by the factual allegati@vsing them in the light most

favorable to the plaintiffKanter v. Barella489 F.3d 170, 177 (3d Cir. 2007). | am not,

however, “compelled to accept unsupported conclusions and unwarranted infereneggmbr a |

conclusion couched as a factual allegatioBdraka v. McGreeveyl81 F.3d 187, 195 (3d Cir.

2007)(quotationmarks and citations omitted)
[I. DISCUSSON
The FCA imposes liabilitpn any person who:
(A)  knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or
fraudulent claim for payment or approval;

(B)  knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a
false record or statement material to a falseaurdulent

claim;
(C)  conspires to commit a violation of subparagraph (A), [or]
(B) ... .[or]

(G)  knowingly conceals or knowingly and improperly avoids or
decreases an obligation to pay or transmit money or
property to the Government.



31 U.S.C. § 3729)(1). The penalty for a violation is a fireetweern$ 5,500 and $ 11,000 and
treble damagesld.® (Gov't Compl. § 318.) The North Carolina False Claims Act, under which
relator brings Count Il against Carolirres the same requirementd.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-60%
Sseqg.

The government bringdaims againstarious groups of defendants under the FGA f
four categories of conduct:)Atatements enroliment and application forndenying
Martinez’s involvement in the clinics;)Btatements billings for “med checks” that falsely
represented that the vishad lastedifteen minutes; ¢statements in billingfor services
provided by individualshat falsely represented that the provideese qualified therapistsnd
D) statements in billigsfor services provided by individuatlsat falsely represented the
individualswere supervised by therapiétsthe government also bringslated common law
claimsbased on the same conduantd a claim to revergaerce the corporate veil against MM
Consultants and MCM Bethlehenh.hold thatrelator and the governmenave allegd sufficient
facts tostatetheir claimsbased on each of thesategories of conduct

A. ECA Liability Based on Martinez’'s Involvement in the Clinics (Counts I-11)

Relator andhe gavernment bring FCA claimagainst various defendants for false
statements denying Martinez’s involvement in the clini@&mnith Compl. Count (FCA) and Il
(North Carolina FCA); Gov't Compl. Countsllis) The defendants argue these claims must be
dismissed. First, with respect to all the defendants, they corgktdr and the governmetatil

to allege that any false claims were submitted that were material to the govesnheergion to

% The statute provides for penalties of “not less than $ 5,000 and not more than $ 10,000,
as adjustedyy the Federal Civil Penaltiesflation Adjustment Act of 1990 [Pub. L. 101-410,
codified at28 U.S.C. § 246Note], plus 3 times the amount of damages which the Government
sustains because of the act of that persdch.”

* Relator’s complainincludes only the allegations described in Part A.
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pay. Second, \h respect té\costa, Seier, and Eroh, thaygguethe governmerfailsto allege
with particularity theiromplicity in anyfalserepresentations of Martinez’s involvemehto
not findthese argumentsersuasivand will not dismiss these claims

1. Liability Based on False Enrollment and Application Forms

Congress enacted the FCA to protect government funds and property from fraudulent

claims. Rainwater v. United State856 U.S. 590, 592 (1958However, ‘hot every false

statement made to @gernmenentity constitutes dalse claimunder the Act.” United States

ex rel. IBEW, Local Union No. 98 v. Farfield Co., No. 09-4230, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 92590 at

*12 (E.D. Pa. July 2, 2013). In order to state a claim under the FCA, relator and the government
must allege sufficierfacts showing each defendant a) knowingly submitted false or fraudulent
claims to the government) the false statement wanaterial to the government’s decision to
pay, and c) the defendant acted with knowledge withertdp both the falsity and materiality of
the falsehoodsSeeEscobar136 S. Ct. at 1996 (explainitigat a defendant can be held liable
wherehe “knowinglyviolated a requirement that [hiefows is material to the Government’s
payment decision”)Relaor and the government have alleged sufficient facts to satisfy each
requirementvith regard to false statements about Martinez’s involvement in the clinics
a. False Claims

Defendants argue that relator and the government have not alleged the defmadants
falseor fraudulenstatementgbout Martinez’s involvement in the clinizsany claims
submitted to the government, as required for liability under the FCA. | find, howkaethey
have alleged such false fraudulenstatements in enroliment forms, and ttin$ fraudrendes

the claims subsequently submitted as a resutiexnrollment false or fraudulent under the

10



FCA. Because there was an amendment to the Social Security Act that relates to the

government’s claim, | discuss the state of the law before and after this amendment separately.

i. Fraudulent Inducement Pre-2010

For a defendant to be held liable under the FCA, he must have rfalde statement in a
“claim.” A “claim” is “any request or demand . . . foroney or property which is made to a
contractor, grantee, or other recipient if the United States Government prowdes@on of
the money or property which is requested or demanded . . ..” 31 U.S.C. 8§ 37)2%Kh¥?2
“claim” requirement is somewh#exible; the Supreme Court has held ttiet FCA ‘feaches . .

all fraudulent attempts to cause the Government to pay out sums of money.” UaiigsdvSt

Neifert-White Co., 390 U.S. 228, 233 (1968J)hus, although FCA liability must ultimately be

premised on “at least ‘a single false [or fraudulent] claim’ thati#gfendants submitted to the

Government for payment,” United States ex rel. Wilkins v. United Health Grp., Inc.,.889 F

295, 308 (3d Cir. 2011), courts have held tla#td certificationgn enroliment or application
formscan also create FCA liability where claims are subsequently preqmamtadnt to the

fraudulently induced relationship with the governme®¢eUnited States ex rel. Thomas v.

Siemens AG593 F. App’x 139, 143 (3d Cir. 2014) (holding that an individual is liable under the
FCA if he submits a claim “to the government under a contract which was procuireddy
even in the absence of evidence that the claims were fraudulent in themdeltieg’United

States ex rel. Marcus v. Hes$7 U.S. 537, 542-44 (1943) addited States v. Venezial268

F.2d 504, 505 (3d Cir. 1959) (“[l]t has long since been settled that a fraudulently induced
contract may create liability under thalse Claims Actvhen that contract laterselts in

paymenthereunder by the governmeénj; see als®lson v. Fairview Health Servs. of Minn.,

831 F.3d 1063, 1079 n.20 (8th Cir. 20L8)Riley, concurring in part) (“[\VWlen a government

11



contract is secured through fraud, claims for paymentdatemitted under the contract can

count as false claims even if they are not fraudulent themsgjudaited States ex rel. Miller v.

Weston Educ., Inc., 840 F.3d 494, 500 (8th Cir. 2@délJecting cases); United States ex rel.

Main v. Oakland City Univ., 426 F.3d 914, 916 (7th Cir. 2008)d'false statement is integral

to a causal chain leading to payment, it is irrelevant how the federal ia®abas apportioned
the statements among layers of paperworkThis basis for liability applies not just to
government contracts but also to enrollment in government progidn(olding that an FCA
claim could be premised on false representations in an application foiligfifo federal

education subsidies); United States ex rel. Brown v. Pfizer,Nlo. 05-6795, 2017 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 55656 at *28—-30 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 11, 201fplding that FCA liability could be premised
onmisrepresentedlinic trial data in an FDA approval applicationifhus express false
statements in enroliment documents and application forms can grountiaBdiy under the
theory of “fraudulent inducement.”
Defendantxontendhat a claim based on false statements in enrollment documents must
rely on a theory ofitnplied falsecertificatiori” in order to establish falsitynder the FCA.
Under the theory ofmplied false certificationwhen a defendant submits a claiothe
governmentit impliedly certifies compliance with all conditions of paymantl can be held

liable if it fails to disclose that “it violated regulations that affected its eligibiligscobar, 136

® The government describes its argument as being 4brpiess false certificatidr{as
opposedo implied false certificationyather than emphasizing a theory of fraudulent
inducement. It does, however, sai#intly make out that theory in its brie(SeeGov't Resp.
Opp’n to Mots. Dismiss 26 (stating that defendants are not relying on a theonylietlifialse
certification but on theories of misrepresentation of provider identity, factiséthf express
false certification, and fraudulent inducemei);at 24 n.11 (citing cases, some of which relied
on a fraudulent inducement theory); id. at éfirfg 42 U.S.C. § 1320@b(g) (“[A] claim that
includes items or services resulting from a violation ofgkistion constitutes a false or
fraudulent claim for the purposes of [the FCA]"), which was added to the statute in 2010, P
111-148, § 6402(fjMar. 23, 2010).

12



S. Ct. at 1995Wilkins, 659 F.3dat 305. Such claims “do not say anything untrue but are
misleading because of what they leave o@I5on 83 F.3d at 1079 n.20 (J. Riley concurring in

part). The Supreme Court’s recent decisiorJimiversal Health Services v. United Stagasrel.

Escobarclarified the standarfbr FCA claimsthat are basedxamplied false certifications.
Defendants argueslator and the governmemust meet that standard here.

But claims based on false statements in enroliment or application docuni&etsie
government ancelator allege occurred hereneednot rely on a theory of implied false
certification. Rather,based on a theory of fraudulent inducemardiaimant can be liable
for express false certificatignin enrollment documents and need not meet the standard laid out

in Escobar SeeOlson v. Fairview Health Servs. of Minn., 831 F.3d 1063, 1079 n.2@{8th

2016)(“Because the fraud that matters for [the relgldheory is whatever initially induced the
government to enter into the ongoing relationship, not any misrepresentaitigpigsor

explicit—in the claims for payment themselves, the Court’s andliysiscoba) of when such

claims can be actionably misleading is irrelevant Rersee alsd&scobar136 S. Ctat 2001,

United States ex rel. Whatley v. Eastwick C@b7 F. App’x 89, 94 (3d Cir. 201apfizer, 2017

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 55656 at *27—28.
Under the theory of fraudulent inducement, either express false statemiatgdulent
omissions in enrollment documents can constitute false or fraudulent statementhefd2A.

Omissions constitute false or fraudulent statements under the FCAtwaalaimant had a duty

® Neither of the cases the clinic defendants cite support their contentionphesefalse
certifications made on enrollment applications cannot support an FCA claimic (Oéfs.’
Reply 4) (citingUnited States v. Medco Health SyNo. 12-522 (NLH) AMD), 2014 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 135767at*26 (D.N.J. Sept. 25, 2014al{owing plaintiff to proceed on an implied false
certification theory and not deciding whether express false certificdsorapplied)United
States ex rel. Cooper v. Gentiva HealthvSer2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 206941 *23 (W.D. Pa.
Nov. 4, 2003) (adopting a report and recommendation which found that no express certifications
were madp.

13



to disclose the information. United States ex rel. Atkinson v. Pa. Shipbuilding Co., 255 F. Supp.

2d 351, 406 (E.D. Pa. 200@When a party incurs a duty to prevent a fraud on the government,
its failure to fulfill that duty can give rise to liabilitynder the False Claims Act.diting

Luckey v. Baxter Healthcare Cord.83 F.3d 730, 732—-33 (7th Cir. 1997) (noting that where a

party knowingly omits mateal information in presenting ariisleading haHruth’ to the
governmentthat omission may give rise to FCA liability if the government relied thereon to its

financial detriment)United States ex rel. Berge v. Bd. of Trustees, 104 F.3d 1453, 1461 (4th

Cir. 1997) (‘There can . . . be liability under the False Claims Act where the defendant has an

obligation to disclose omitted information.”) (citation omitted). It is undisputddttidang the

allegations as true, the clinics had a duty to disclose Martinez’s involvement. .42 8§88S

1320a-7(a), 1320a-3a(a), (b); 42 C.F.R. §8 420.204(a), 455.106(a), 1002.3(a), 1001.1001(a)(1).
Here,relator and the government haalegedsufficient factsshowingthat false

statements or fraudulent omissions induced the government to enroll the clinics ar&lmoid

Medicaid TheyaverChlebowski “did not disclose Martinez’'s management role or exclusion” in

the clinics on enrollment applications to Medicare in 2003, 2005, and 2009, even though, in

enrollment forms in 2009 (to both Medicare and Medicaid), she disclosed the maiéegod r

other Carolina administrators. (Gov't Compl. 11 224}-2ii.2008, Chlebwoski certified in a

Medicare enrollment form that “no excluded person was a manger of Lehigh Valieéyf’

224.) And Chlebowski falsely denied Martinez had any involvemeot affiliation with

Lehigh Valley during an audit by Magellan, a managed care organization thatctedtwith

Pennsylvania counties to administer behavioral health services to Medmpidnts. [d. 11

62, 63, 68, 231.) In 2005, 2007, 2008, and 2010, Chlebowski certified on Medicaid

reimbursement applications that no manager, consultant, agent or volunteer of the @levierha

14



been excluded or convicted of Medicaid fraud or health care fragidf] 228, 229 Pursuant
to the clinics’ subsequent enroliment, they submitted claims for payment to Mediwhr
Medicaid. (Id. T 58)

Although, in addition to these allegations of express false statementgsralige the
defendants never notified Medicare or Medicaid of the involvement of an excluded person
despite continuing to submit claims for payment, (id.  230; Smith Compl. { 35) which might
suggest an implied certification theory of liability, the other allegationsmiess false
statements and fraudulent omissions in enrollment formsudficient to show falsity for the

purposes of these FCA claims.

ii. Fraudulent Inducement Post2010

FCA liability based on fraudulent inducement with respect to health care programs
now explicit as of a 2010 amendment to the relevant portion of the Social Securifatient
ProtectionandAffordable CareAct. Pub. L. 111-148, § 6402(fiMar. 23, 2010), codified at 42
U.S.C. § 1320&b (“Criminal Penalties for Acts Involving Federal Health Care Programs”)

Unde thisprovision, an alleged claim “that includes items or services resulting fronetiadat

" The government does not argue that false statements in Medicaid reimbursement
applications aréghemselves false claims within the meaning of the +@.A., that a
reimbursement application is a “request or demand . . . for money” under 31 U.S.C. §
3729(b)(2). In fact, defendants argue that

the Government inaccurately references ‘Medicaid provider
reimbursement applications.” However, Moving Defendants
believe the Government is actually referring to Medicaid ‘Promise
Provider Enrollment Base Applications’ submitted to the
Pennsylvania Department of Human Services. The Government’s
replacing of tle word ‘enroliment’ with ‘reimbursement’ is a

world-class Freudian Slip . . . . These are annual enroliment
applications that aneot submitted in conjunion with claims for
payment.

Clinic Defs.” Mot. toDismiss 8. The Government does not dispute this in its response.

15



misrepresentations made “in any applicationaioy benefit or payment under a Federal health
care program” or “for use in determining rights to such benefit or payraentfalse or
fraudulent for the purposes of [the FCA]d. § 1320afb(a)(1), (g).

With respect to any alleged misrepresentations raéidethe 2010 amendmeng)ator
and the government have sufficiently alleged that the claims are false guocstrenFCA under
the 2010 amendment. This may incldlde allegedlyfalse certification made on a Medicaid
provider reimbursement apghtionin 2010, (id.{ 29 andMartineZs statementn his
applicationto HHS for renstatement on November 30, 2010 that he had not been associated with
any clinic or employed at all since his June 2000 exclusioh .y 03, Ex. A.)

b. Materiality

In order to incur liability for submitting a false claim, that claim must be material to the
government’s decision to pa§scobar136 S. Ct. at 2003. false claim is material whenlias
“a natural tendency to influence, or be capable of influencing, the payment gt cdaeoney
or property.” 31 U.S.C. 8§ 3729(b)(4Materiality “looks to the effect on the likely or actual
behavior of the recipient of the alleged misrepresentatiBscobay 136 S. Ct. at 2003 (citation
and internal quotation maglomitted). This standard is “demanding”: it “cannot be found where
noncompliance is minor or insubstantiald. This is because the FCA is “not anpillrpose
antifraud statute, or a vehicle for punishing gardenety breaches of contract or redaly
violations.” Id. (internal quotatia marks and citation omitted). Rather, only actitrad “have
the purpose and effect of causing the government to pay out money where it is not due, or
actiong[that] intentionally deprive the government of money it is lawfully owede actionable

claimsunderthe FCA. IBEW, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 92590 at *12 (internal citations omitted).
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In order to show that the false certifications were material to the govet'srdecision to
accept the clinics as enrolled providershawing “that the Government would have the option
to decline to pay if it knew of the defendant’s noncompliameeiccordance with2 U.S.C. §
1320a7(b)(8)2 is “not enough.”_Escobar, 136 S. Ct. at 2003. Ratherallegationsnust show
that disclosures regarding Martinez’s involvement would have had an effect drethelii
actual behavior of HHS, Pennsylvania Medicaiddthe North Carolina administrators.

Stated conditions of paymeint statutes or regulations are relevant in establishing
materiality, though they are not “automatically dispositiviel. “A misrepresentation cannot be
deemed material merely because the Government designates compliance witulaparti
statutory, regulatory, or contractual requirement as a condition of payment. itNsuffgcient
for a finding of materiality that the Government would have the option to decline tbipay i
knew of the defendant’s noncompliancéd.

Likewise, proof of materialjt can include, but is not necessarily
limited to, evidence that the defendant knows that the Government
consistently refuses to pay claims in the mine run of cases based on
noncompliance with the particular statutory, regulatory, or
contractual requiremen€onversely, if the Government pays a
particular claim in full despite its actual knowledge that certain
requirements were violated, that is very strong evidence that those
requirements are not material. Or, if the Government regularly

pays a particularype of claim in full despite actual knowledge that
certain requirements were violated, and has signaled no change in

8 Section 1320a-7 of the U.S. Code, titled “Exclusion of certain individuals and entities
from participation in Medicare and State health care programs,” describeategories:
“[m]andatory exclusion,” 8 1320a-7(a), and “[p]ermissive exclusion.” 8§ 1320a-7(b). Exgludi
“[e]ntities controlled by a sanctioned individual” falls under permissivéusian, U.S.C. §
1320a-7(b)(8).

Similarly, Pennsylvania law allows, but does not require, Medicaid to terminatel@m®vi
for false statements in enrollmenfpdipations or other violations. Pennsylvania law provides
that Medicaidnayterminate a provider and seek restitution and repayment if the provider or its
agent submit false information, misrepresent the identity of the provider, miat@ni agreement
or conspiracy to obtain or aid another in obtaining Medicaid payment for which the poovide
other person is not eligible. 55 Pa. Code 88 1101.77 (a), 1101.75(b).
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position, that is strong evidence that the requirements are not
material.

Id. at 2003-04. The complaintust allege that the clinics dibt violate one of many obscure
Medicareor Medicad regulations for which the government might excuse violation, but in fact
violated a regulation for which the government would have refused to pay the dlaioss.

This standard applies even anation to dismissat which point the government or
relator must “plead their claims with plausibility and particularity under ééReres of Civil
Procedure 8 and 9(b) by, for instance, pleading facts to support allegationsradlityateld. at

2004 n.6.Escobaiitself wasdecided on appeal from an order granamgotion to dismiss.d.

at 1998.

On remandrom the Supreme Court’s decisionEscobaythe Court of Appeals for the
First Circuit had “little difficulty in concluding that [the r]etat [had] sufficiently alleged that
[the defendant’s] misrepresentations were material” based on three:faetguations making
compliance a condition of payment; “the centrality of the [relevant] . . . regemtsnm the . . .
regulatory program”; ashthe lack of allegations in the complaint that the government paid the

claims despite knowing of the violationgnited States ex rel. Escobar v. Universal Health

Servs., InG.842 F.3d 103, 110 (1st Cir. 2016&e alsdJnited States ex rel. Wood v. Athan,

Inc., No. 10-5645, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 50103 at *88 n.29 (S.D.N.Y., Mar. 31, 2017) (finding
successful allegations ofateriality where the relatdprovide[d] evidence of agreements
expressly designating compliance with the [relevant statutelcasdition of payment; detped]
alerts and guidance documents issued by the Government during the relesgertod

warning against [statutory] violations; nfdgthe severity of civil and criminal punishment for

such violations; describe[dhe legislative history [supporting the allegations of materiality]; and
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plead[ed]a kickback scheme that, taken as true, ddidithe government into paying hundreds
of millions of dollars in prescription drug claims that weat eligible for reimbursaent”).

Here, relator and the governmextkiequately plead the materiality of the defendants’
concealment of Martinez’s involvement. Each of these allegations, discussedHedfmishow
materiality: regulations and lawthatmakedisclosure and comph&ea condition of payment;
guidance promulgated BYHS explaining itsunwillingness to pay claims presented by entities
cortrolled by excluded individuals; aneltters received biartinez explaining that his exclusion
precluded involvement in the clinics.In response, the defendants argue that healthcare
administratorgaid the claims despite knowing of the violatiamsl that compliances a
nonmateriacondition of participatiomn Medicare and Medicajahot a condition of paymenof
claims | find that the defendants’ arguments do not outweigh the government’s showing of facts

supporting an inference that the violations wegderial.

i. Laws Making Compliance a Condition of Payment

First, both federal and Pennsylvania law make compliance with certain regulations
regarding disclosure of interested persons an express condition of payment. edadsréwy

“no payment may be made” by the relevant portioMetlicareunless the providegives HHS

® The government also supports its argument for materiality by pointing aitt itha
felony to misrepresent information about an institution in order to qualify for Mieldica
Medicare. (Gov't Resp. Opp’n to Mots. Dismiss 10); 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(c). But that statute
requires that the false representation be “material,” and it is therefore cicctdéy bn that
provision to show materiality herdd. (“[W]hoever knowingly and willfully makes or causes to
be made, or induces or seeks to induce the making of, any false statement or réipreséata
materialfact with respect to theoaditions or operation of any institution, facility, or entity in
order that such institution, facility, or entity may qualify . . . [for a cerdtate programs], or
with respect to information required to be provided under section 1124A [42 U.S.C. § 1320a-3a,
requiring the disclosure of excluded persons who serve as managing employkeaxa/
ownership or control interests in the provider], shall be guilty of a felony and upon comvicti
thereof shall be fined not more than $25,000 or imprisoned for not more than five years, or
both.”) (emphasis added).

19



“full and complete informatidron the identity of any person “with an ownership or control
interest in the provider” or “any managing employee of the provider.” 42 U.S.C. § 38gfa-
42 C.F.R. 88 420.204(a) (full disclosure required to the Cémtddedicare and Medicaid
services regarding saméb5.106(a).A “managing employéds “an individual, includinga
general manager, business manager, administrator, and director, whoesx@peistional or
managerial control over the entity, or who directly or indirectly conducts theoetday
operations of the entity.” 42 U.S.C. § 132&).

Similarly, PennsylvaniaMedicaidprohibits a terminated provider—which includes
excluded individualssee55 Pa. Code § 1101.21frem “[r]leceiv[ing] direct orindirect
payments from the Department in the form of salary, equity, dividends, sharecbfeescts,
kickbacks or rebates from or through a participating provider or related.’erttys
1101.77(c)(2)(ii) *°

ii. Administrative Guidance

Secondrelator and the governmeidentify statutes and regulations makihg
condition of payment that no excluded person have “furnished” items or services forthéic
provider claims payment. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1395y(e)(1), 1&(a) (b);, 42 CFR § 1001.1901 (5.
Defendantxoncede that materiality is established if Martinez furnished items or srvice

(Clinic Defs.” Supp. Mem. Support. Mot. to Dismiss 4; Martinez Defs.” Mot. J. Pleadif)g

19 North Carolina’s laws governing disclosure and recoupment are more gebeeal.
e.g, N.C. Gen. Stat. 8 108A-63(a), (b) (making it unlawful for a provider to knowingly make
false statements or representations of material fact in any applicaticayfoept omwith respect
to conditions or operations of a providarorderto qualify or remainqualified to provide
Medicaid; unlawful for providerto knowingly andwillfully concealor fail to discloseanyfact
or eventaffectinghisinitial or continuedentitlementto Medicaid payment); N.C. GerStat §
22F.0601(a) (authorizing the North Carolina Medicaid program to recoup improper payments).
X pennsylvania law similarly “does not pay for services or items rendeestyimed or
ordered” by providers who have been terminated from the program. 55 Pa. Code 88
1101.77(c)(1), 1101.66(e).
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butargue that Martinez’s activities, as alleged in the complattich involve acting as a

landlord and business administration and development—do not constitute furnishing services.
(Id.) HoweverHHS declaredn administrative guidance documents its intention to consider
Martinez’s conduct to be “furnishing services.” This guidance showsith&twouldlikely

have denied payment h#uk clinics’ truthfully disclosed Martinez’s participatiand therefore
supports a finding of materiality.

In 1999,HHS promulgated &pecial Advisory Bulletin interpreting th@meaning of
“furnish” in the statute and regulations. Thelétin explainedhatthe agency considered
providingadministrative and management serviebe “furnishing” services under the statute.
(Gov't Compl.|1 75-78) (citing HHS Special Advisory Blletin, “The Effect of Exclusionrdm
Participation in Federal HehlCare Programs,” (Sept. 1999)j stated,

76. “The prohibition against Federal program payment for items
or services furnished by excluded individuals or entities also
extends to payment for administrative and management services
not directly related to patient care, but that are a necessary
component of providing items and services to Federal program
beneficiaries.”ld.

77. “In addition, no Federal program payment may be made to
cover an excluded individual’s salary, expenses or fringe benefits,
regardless of whether they provide direct patient cak.”

78. “[T]he practical effect of an OIG exclusion is to preclude
employment of an excluded individual in any capacity by a health
care provider that receives reimbursement, indirectly or directly,

from any Federal health care progranid’

Id. (footnote referencing an updated 2013 version obttietin omitted)*?

12 Thebulletin also affects payments by Pennsylvania and North Carolina because the
federal government reimburses a large portion of state Medicaid exp@ees Compl. T 59)
(explaining that the federal governmémtded between fiftyjour and sixtysix percent of
Medicaid cost during the relevant years in Pennsylvania and North Carolina). Medieare is
federal program(ld. 1 55-58.)

21



The Clinic defendants argue that the HHS bulletin’s interpogtatvhich is not binding

on this court but only relevant to the extent it has the “power to persuade,” Chnstehkgris

Cnty., 529 U.S. 576, 587 (2000), employs an overly broad interpretation of what it means to

“furnish” services. (Clinic Defs.’ Mot. to Dismiss 18%.But regardless of what it means to

3 The Clinic defendants point out thaetSocial Security Aaddresses excluding
“entities controléd by a sanctioned individual” at 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7(b)(8), and makes their
exclusion permissible but not mandatory. By contthstActaddresses paygclaims for items
or servicedurnished by an excluded entity or individual at 42 U.S.C. § 1395y(e)(1), and
prohibits payment absolutelyd. (“N o payment may be made . . . with respect to any item or
service . . . furnished . . . (A) by an individual or entity during the period when such iradigrdu
entity is exluded.”) The Clinic defendan&ggue that the differential treatment of “entities
controlled by a sanctioned individual’—whiamaybe excluded-and entities submitting claims
for services “furnished” by an excluded individual—which cannot be paid, sihaivart
excluded individual’s management of a provider does not constitute “furnishing” service
(Clinic Defs.” Supp. Mem. Support. Mot. to Dismiss(4)T|he Government treats services
‘furnished’ by an excluded provider much differently than services provided by &ntbatiis
owned or controlled by an excluded [individual].”). In other wob#ssause the Act treats these
categories of claims differently, they argue, “furnishing services”atasiso mean controlling
an entity that provides services.

The government reads the statute differently. It presents two argumiestighdta
broad interpretation of what it means to “furnish services” is consistent withatge’s
language, which precludes payment

with respect to any item or service..furnished —

(A) by an individual or entity during the period when such individual
or entity is excluded . . . ; or

(B) at the medical direction or on the prescription of a physician during
the period when he is excluded . . . .

42 U.S.C. § 1395y(€)). Asthe government argues, the statute’s description of these two
categories suggests that conduct falling under Part A includes conduct other thaecthe
provision of medical serviceste., healthcare administration. (Gov't Resp. Opp’n to Mots. to
Dismiss 16.)

Second, the government argues that HHS’s interpretation in the bulletin of wieatris
to “furnish” services is consistent with the overarching Medicare scheatdigiséd by federal
law under the Social Security Act, which excludes individuals for misconduadétathe
business and administration of healthcare. (Gov't Resp. Opp’n to Mots. DismisSekFA2
U.S.C. 8§ 1320a-7(a)(3), (b) (requiring exclusion for fraud, embezzlement, breadticidfy
responsibility, and financial misconduct, and allowing exclusion for obstruction of an
investigation or audit, excessive billing, paying kickbacks, or failure to desckmpiired
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furnish servicesHHHS was statutorily authorized to exclude entitiesticled by an excluded
person under 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7(b)(8ke alsal2 C.F.R. § 420.204(b) (authorizing HHS to
“refuse to enter into or renew an agreement with a provider of services, or to ississue a
billing number . . . if any person who has an ownership or control interest in the provider or
supplier, or who is an agent or managing employee, has been convicted of a criramsa off
subjected to any civil penalty or sanction related to the involvement of that persodicaide
[or] Medicaid”). The bulletin shows that HHS took seriously the involvement of excluded
individuals in kealthcare providersRegardless of ethent would have respondelly refusing
paymentas suggested by the bulletor by excluding thelinics altogether, apermitted under
8 1320a-7, theesultwould bethe nonpayment of the clinics’ claim$herefae the bulletin
helps the governmeshow materiality
iii. The Letters
Third, the governmenprovides support for materiality @flegingthat the information

about Martinez’s involvement was material to the government’s decision to pay,aainaeyl
knew this, because healthcare administrators told him as much in letters sent ésdribyird
the conditions of his exclusion after his 2000 conviction. The Pennsylvania Department of
Public Welfare (DWP) notified him that

no payments will be made to you by the Program for services

rendered by you or by anyone under your supervision . . . .

Further, the Department will not pay for any seed arranged,

rendered, supervised, prescribed or ordered by you for any other

provider or from any other provider, nor will the Department make

payments for services through which you may receive indirect

payments by any means, including ownershilgrgashared fees
or contracts.

information). t argues thaticomports with this provision to read the statute on exclusion to
allow HHS torefuse to pay the claims of entities whose administration is partly being run by
suchexcludel individuals.
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(Gov't Compl. § 90. HHS further informed him that
no program payment will be made to you for anything that you do .
.. or to any employer for anything that you do, order, or prescribe
to program patients . . . . Any service you provide is acovered
service. Therefore, you cannot submit claims or cause claims to be
submitted for payments under any Federal health care program.
(Id. at 191.) These letters also support a finding that both Pennsylvania’s Medicaid
administators and HHS would have refused to pay the clinics’ claims had they known of

Martinez’'s involvement.

iv. Government Knowledge

Defendants argue that the government’s knowledge of Martinez’s involvémtbiet
clinics as a result of Smithtgui tamcomplaintand continued payment in spite of that
knowledge shows on the face of the complaint that information about his involvweasent
immaterial. (SeeClinic Defs.” Mot. to Dismisdl1; Clinic Defs! Supp. Mem. Supporting Mot. to
Dismiss 5). They point out thatvhile Smith filed her qui tam complaint in 201the government
continued to pay the clinics’ Medicaid claims until 2015 arwlstill payinghe clinics’

Medicare payments(Clinic Defs! Supp. Mem. Supporting Mot. to Dismiss 5 n(®ferencing
a related casm whichthe clinics’ requestd an injunction instructing Medicaid administrator

to make future Medicaid payments to the clinics, which | dededLehigh Valley Community

Mental Health Centers, Inc. v. Pa. Dep’t of Human Servs., No. 15-4315, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS

144717 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 26, 2015)). However, | find that the complaint does not show that the
government knew of Martinez’s involvement as a result of the qui tam complaint, arfidréhere
this does not outweigh other allegati@ugpporting materiality.

Prior toEscobay several courts refused to consider the government knowledge defense

on a motion to dismissSeeUnited States v. Bollinger Shipyards, Inc., 775 F.3d 268 (5th
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Cir. 2014) (“The government knowledge defense is not appropriate at the motion t® dismis
stage, which requires [the court] to draw all inferences in favor of the UnaesS};accord

U.S. ex rel. Hagood v. Sonoma County Water Agency, 929 F.2d 1416, 1421 (9th Cir. 1991).

Escobarhowevergexplainsthat the government knowledge defense should be considered at this
stage.136 S. Ct. at 2004 n.@n reviewing a district court’s grant of a motion to dismibks,
Supreme Court iEscobatexplained that “if the Government regularly pays a particular type of
claim in full despite actual knowledge that certain requirements were violatedaarsignaled
no change in position, that is strong evidence that the requirements are nalfhatetj in a
footnote immediately following this statement, furthiaberated that the Court

reject[ed] [the defendant’s] assertion that materiality is too fact

intensive for courts to dismiss False Claims Act cases on a motion

to dismiss or at summary judgmefithe standard for materiality

that we have outlined is a familiar and rigorous one. And False

Claims Act plaintiffs must also plead their claims with plausibility

and particularity under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 8 and 9(b)

by, for instance, pleading facts to support allegations of

materiality.
Id. at 2004 n.6.

Escobardid not, howeveralter the fundamental procedural rule theadistrict court

ruling on a motion to dismiss may not consider matters extraneous to the pléatings.

Burlington Coat Factory Sec. Litigl14 F.3d 1410, 1426 (3d Cir. 1997). Moreover, as the Court

of Appeals for the First Circuit interpreted the Supreme Court’s holdiegdnbar“mere

awareness of allegations concerning noncompliance with regulations remifiemm kneviedge

of actual noncomliance,” and even actual knowledge that certain requirements were violated “is
not dispositive.” 842 F.3d at 110-1see alsdrfizer, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 55656, at *33—-34
(holding that, on a motion to dismiss, the United States had successfully peadg€d claim

because it alleged that it was unaware of the false or fraudulent nature of thaudefend
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statements in spite of thelator’s allegations, and so continued to pay the clainut)see

D’Agostino v. ev3, Inc., 845 F.3d 1, 8-9 (1st Cir. 2016) (mentiothaghe fact that the Center

for Medicare and Medicaidhas not denied reimbursement for [the drug] in the wakinef
relator’'s]allegations casts serious doubt on the materiality of ¢helédent representations that
[the relator]alleges” but continuing that, “[ijn any event” the real issue with his complaint was a
failure to plead causatipi*

Here, defendants rely on allegations outside the complaintss&ante to draw
inferences against the government. The complaint does not allege that the gov&rmawe
after 2011, that defendants had made false certifications as a resulalbégiagions in the Smith
complaint; and the complaint does not allege that Medicare payments continudukeditart
of the government’s complaint in 2018s | must at this stage take all allegations in the
complaints as truand draw all inferences in thewernment’s favortoglia 754 F.3d at 157

do not find that this negates the other allegations showing materiality

v. Conditions of Participation

The defendantalso argue that compliance with the disclosure requirements and
Martinez’sexclusion was a condition of participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs,
not a condition of payment, atigerefore not material to the healthcagenanistrators’ decision

to pay undetnited States ex relVilkins v. United Health Group. 659 F.3d at 3q&linic

4 As defendants have not challenged the complaint’s allegations of causation, | do not
address th®’Agostino court’'s emphasis on government knowledge and nonaction with respect
to that elementSeeid. at 7-9 (holding that the FDA'’s decision never to recall or relabel the
drug that it allegedly knew resulted from a fraudulent approval application“fatehgap” in
the complaint). The materialitpquiry is distinct from the causation inquirynited States ex
rel. Petratos v. Genentech In855 F.3d 481, 492 (3d Cir. 201(7)E]vidence of how the claim
makes its way to the government should be considered under the causation analgsisewhil
materiality analysis begins after a claim has been submitieel. materiality inquiry,n asking
whether the governmestpayment decisiois affected, assumes that the claim has in fact
reached the government.”).
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Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss #12). But, unlike inVilkins, the defendantseredo not identifyan

administrative scheme for managing and ading violations over timeld. They therefore do
not undermine the government’s showing of materiality.

“Conditionsof patrticipation” is a term of art that describes requiremiatis‘are
enforced through administrative mechaniSmbkere “theultimate sanction for violation of such
conditions is removal from the government program, while conditions of payment are those
which, if the government knew they were not being followed, might cause it to actfake

payment. Id. at 31041 (quotingUnited States ex rel. Conner v. Salina Reqg’l Health Ctr., Inc.,

543 F.3d 1211, 1220 (10th Cir. 2008)) (quotation marks and alterations omitted). The purpose of
this limitation is to prevent courts from using the FCA to enforce regulatorysprasithathe
regulatory agencies themselves have chegernot enforceor to enforce more delicatelyd.
Courtsare concernethat “permittingqui tam plaintiffs to file suit based on the violation of
regulations which may be corrected through an adminigtrptocess and which are not related
directly to the Government’s payment of a claim” would “shift the burden of entpthe

Medicare regulations” to the courts “even though the administration of thendasbmplicated

Medicare program is best left tioe administrators.’ld.; U.S. ex rel. Freedom Unlimited Inc. v.

City of Pittsburgh No. 12-1600, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 43701 at *93-94 (W.D. Pa. Mar. 31,

2016).

Thus,a finding that a requirement is a condition of participation undermines materiality
when violating that requirement would lead the regulatory agenaoitiie corrective measures
other than declining paymenilkins, 659 F.3d at 309In Wilkins, the relator alleged that a
health center wagable under the FCA for submitting claims for payment while it was violating

marketing regulationsld. at 300. In finding that these regulations were not conditions of
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payment, but rather of participation, the Court of Appeals explained that the retsyalation
“provides that before CMS magsue a notice of intent to terminate a Medicare conitrach

provide a plan sponsor ‘a reasonable opportunity of at least 30 calendar days to develop and
implement a corrective actiongpl to correct the deficiencies™ and also had several exceptions
to allow for a longer period of timdd. at 309. These regulations “clearly demonstrate that
compliance . . . is a condition of participation and not a condition of payment as the regulations
draw a line between the type of viatats which are correctible and, if corrected, will allow the
sponsor to continue as a Medicare program participant and the type of violations atiitth le
immediate termination of a CMS contractd.

Here, he Clinic defendants do not identify a scheme under which HHS would initiate
corrective measures other than declining payment if they had known of Magtimealvement.
Rather, theynerelypoint out that: 1) the forms on which the false statementswade are
enrollmen forms, not claims for payment, ag@jithe Social Security AajivesHHS discretion
to exclude entities from participatiobut does not make such exclusion mandatory. 42 U.S.C. §
1320a-7. Clinic Defs.” Mot. to Dismis®.) Neither ofthese facts shosthat a regulatory
scheme existedith respect to the involvement of excluded individubtt allowedproviders to
come into compliance over a period of time, rather than esiagimmediately excluddor
immediately dered paymentfor their claims Therefore, this argument also fails to undermine
the government’s allegations supporting materiality.

Because the government has alleged sufficient facts to support an inthartbe
government would actually have denied payment to the clinics had it known of Martinez’s
involvement, it has sufficiently alleged facts supportimateriality.

c. Scienter
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Finally, in order to establish FCA liabilityith regard to Martinez’s involvement in the
clinics, relator and the government will have to prove that defendants “knowingly violated a
requirement that the defendant[s knew was] material to the Government'smpalgaision.”
Escobar136 S. Ct. at 1998ee als®1 U.S.C. 8 3729(&)), (b)(1)(A) In the wake oEscobar,
defendants argue that the government and relator fail to allege facts shoemgrs(Martinez
Defs.’ Letter Support Mot. to Dismiss and J. on the Pleadings after Edgoliauit knowledge
“may be alleged generdllynder Rule 9(b). Fed. R. Civ. P1( The complaints describe the
requisite scienter with general allegatioaspecting eachoncorporate defendantS€eGov't
Compl. 11 98, 99, 202-10, 222, 301, 303, 354.) Morealegations of Martinez’s receipt of
two letters describing the restrictions as a resuliékclusion bolster the allegations of
knowledge.

Therefore, becaughe government and relator haaleeged false claims, materiality, and
the requisite knowledge, they havatsd aclaim under the FCA and NCFCA based on the
clinics’ false certifications regarding Martinez’s involvement.

2. Particularity Respecting Acosta Seier, and Eroh

The government alleges that three of the clinics’ administratdigrgeAcosta,Nancy
Seier andParicia Eroh—are also liable under the FCA. These defendants move separately to
dismiss the claims against them, arguing thagtheernment desnot plead fraud with
particularity as required by Rule 9(b). They contend the government does noafoftites,
state any names of patients whose application for benefits were submitteditaid or
Medicaid, or support any allegations with evidence to show that the defendants Adesta;; Se

Eroh did anything wrong.” (AdmirDefs.” Mot. to Dismissll).
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With respect tats FCA claims againsgtach defendant, the government must allege that
the defendant) submitted, caused to be submitted, or conspired to submit a false or fraudulent
claim or recordr statemeninaterial to such claim, 2) materialitgrd 3) scienter Escobar 136
S. Ct. at 1996 Materiality and scienter, which thedministratordefendants do not challenge, are
sufficiently pled: adiscusse@bove, materiality has been alleged by showing that, had the
clinics’ disclosed Martinez’s involvement, their claims would not have been Baidnter has
been alleged by the complaint’s stateméinés each of the three administrators kribat
Martinez“was ot allowed to have a role in the clinié¢gGov't Compl. { 46, 49, 53), artkat
the clinics received over $74 million from Medicare and Medicaid between 2009 and 2012—
over 99% of their business—from which one caualér thattheclinics’ administrator&new
claims were being submitted the government for paymentid.(f 105.) The issue with respect
to theadministratordefendants is whether they submitted or caused to be subfalttear
fraudulent claims to the government. | find that the goventis allegations show sufficient
involvement in a scheme to submit fraudulent claims to the government.

Individuals who do not themselves submit claims can be held liable “on the theory that
they caused the presentation of false claims where they had agreed to takecectliactions

in furtherance of the fraud,” even where they are not the frapdi®mé mover United States

ex rel. Tran v. Comput. Scis. Corp., 53 F. Supp. 3d 104, 127 (D.D.C. @idg U.S. ex rel.

Sikkenga v. Regence Bluecross Blueshield of Utah, 472 F.3d 702, 715 (10th Cir. 2006)).

However, liability under a causation theorgduir[es] more than mere passive acquiescénce
Sikkenga, 472 F.3dt 714-15.[l] n examining whether a na@ubmitting partyhas ‘causedthe
submission of a false claim or false statement, a court must look at the degreehtthatparty

was involved in the scheme that results in the actual submissioar 53 F. Supp. 3d at 127;

30



see alsdJnited States ex rel. Polansky v. Exec Health Res., 196 F. Supp. 3d 477, 513 (E.D.

Pa. 2016) (holding that some level of direct involvement is necessary for dirddyliamier the

FCA); United States v. President & Fellows of Harvard Coll., 323 F. Supp. 2d 151, 187 (D.

Mass. 2004) (“Where a defendant has an ongoing business relationship with alrigieate
claimant, and the defendant knows of the false claims, yet does not cease doing buirtes
claimant or disclose the false claimshe Unied States, the defendantstrichlike behavior
itself becomes a course of conduct that allowed fraudulent claibesgoesented to the
government.”Yinternal quotattn marks and citations omitted).

With respect to each of the defendants, the govamhalkeges that thewere sufficiently
involved in the scheme that resulted in the submission of false claims to support athatling
theycausedheclaims to be submitte@s follows.

a. Acosta

The Government alleges Acosta begamkivig for the clinican 2007 andacted as
Martinez’s ‘right hand mafi. (Id. 1146, 47) He “took his orders from Martinez and eschewed
the authority of the clinics’ medical director, who was supposed to be above him inithefcha
command.” [d.) He witnessed Martineg’involvement in the clinics: he accompanied
Martinez to the Carolina clinic, where Martinez “took over a meeting of thésapising run by
the clinic’s director.(Id.  198.)

He also assisted in Martinsztherapist recruiting efforts, organizingléige recruiting
fair at a Santo Domingo hotel where Martinez made a presentation about thei€Atalin
approximately 600 candidates for therapist jobs in the PA clinics” “in or around” 2@D&t |
165) “Acosta screened the candidates’ resumegeegEnted a report for Martinez’s review.”

(Id. 11166.) As aresult of these efforts, “several groups of people from the Dominican
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Republic” were hired by the clinicgld.  167.) In total, the clinics hired 150 over 150 new
therapists during Martinez’s exclusiond.(f 159.)

Acosta taughtourses in the 2002610 masters’ degree program that Martinez had
coordinated. Ifl. 11 173-74) Hewas on a team that was “responsible fafecting documents
from various Dominican institutions pertaining to individual Lehigh Valley and Nasthe
therapists.”(Id. 1 178.) He helped Martinez and Chlebowski enforce their requirement that all
therapists working in the Pennsylvagiaics paticipate in the masters’ prograniid. § 179.)
Finally, he “intimidated or attempted to intimidate clinic colleagues to achieve Mastemeds.”

(Id. 1 47.) He “sought to conceal Martinez’s involvement in the clinics from the govetnme
thereby perpetuating the clinics’ fraud upon Medicare and Medicaid. Y 47, 48.)

These allegationsufficiently describe Acosta’s involvement in the fraudulent scheme to
involve Martinez in the clinics despite his exclusion, therdysing false or fraudulent
Medicaid and Medicarelaims to be submitted

b. Seier

The government alleges Seier, the cBhituman resources director, worked closely with
Martinezand kept him informed about the clinics’ business. It alleges she worked with Martine
to “hire]] an outside IT consultant to design a program to regularly email to Martieppra r
detailing the patient count and patient demographic information for all of théritAsites.”

(Id. 1145, Exhs. G and H.She also “presented Martinez with the results of a staff evaluation to
assist Martinez in determining who he should consider for a new position in qualitgressur

in May 2011. [d.  153,Ex. L) Seier was on the team with Acosta that was “responsible for
collecting documents from various Dominican institutions pertaining to individinghé/alley

and Northeast therapists.1d({ 178.)
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Finally, “[s]tarting in or around 2008, Seier was in charge of maintaining the clinics’
credentialing files.”(Id. 1 290 n.14.) The documentationNortheast'iles, presented to CBH
as part of an audit, “obscured the educational and work history of several Notibessists”
andNortheast “materially misrepresented to CBH the date of hire of many thtsfapi conceal
that they had been working prior to obtaining the requisite degreest {290-93.) Like
Acosta, Seier alstassisted in Martinez’s and Chlebowski’s efforts to keep clinic employees
from revealing the fraudulent scheme to authorities,” and “made multiple falsaialeading
statements denying Martinez’s involvement in the climadepositions conducted in this
matter.” (1d. 1 217, 219.)

These allegations sufficiently depict Seier’s involvement in the clinics’ scheswbomit
fraudulent claims to Medicare and Medicalot only did Seier work closely with Martinez, she
made fése records that were material to claims submitted for payment. This states a darm un
the FCA.

c. Eroh

Plaintiffs also state a claim againstfendant Erolunder the FCA fopresenting false
claims to the government or conspiring to present false clainsh, who is Chlebwoski’s
mother,has beerheclinics’ billing director since 2001(ld. 1 52.) Shesubmittedor supervised
the submission ddll claims for payment to Medicare and Medicaid for all of the cliaftsr
2001, despite knowing that Martinez was wrongfully operating the clinidsat{{12, 52-54,
209, 220-21Exs.K, I.) As thegovernment has successfully plgtit thee claims for payment
were false undehe fraudulent inducement theory, plaintiffs hat@eda claim againsEroh on

these grounds.
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Therefore, | will deny the defendants’ motions with respect to the admiarstra
defendants.

B. “Med Checks” Too Short To BePayable(Counts IV and V)

Defendants argue the government’s claim against Martinez, Chlebowski, Eroh,
Northeast, and Lehigh Valley for fraudulently billing featient “medication management
visits,” or “med checks,” fails to plead fraud with the requisite particulaegause it does not
provide any legal support for the alleged requirement that med chetskiassiat leadifteen
minutes and that the cliniegere required tadlocument visits’ start and end timg€linic Defs.’
Mot. to Dismissl2—-13.) This argument goes to the government’s failure to plead the materiality
of the false billings.However, because the government alleges the Pennsylvania Medicaid
administrators recouped overpayments as a result of the clinics’ $aitudmcument start and
end times for the visits, it has sufficiendlijegedfacts showingnaterality.

UnderEscoba, proof of materiality is broader than the mere existence or nonexistence of

a regulation, and can include “evidence that the defendant knows that the Government
consistently refuses to pay claims in the mine run of cases based on noncomptiaace w
paticular statutory, regulatory, or contractual requirement.” 136 S. Ct. at 20QBited States

ex rel. Schimelpfenig v. Dr. Reddy’s Labs. Ltd., No. 11-4607, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44064 at

*23 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 27, 2017) (finding that plaintiffs had netdghateriality where thegid not
identify legal requrements that had been violatedimstancs in which the government refused
payment of a clainor initiated an action to recoup payment on the basis of noncompliance).
Although the government’s comi does not cite support for its assertioinatthe
Pennsylvania Medicaid administrators “do not pay for a med check that is not a miofri6m

minutes,” (id. 1 240), and that they “do not pay for med checks not supported by documentation
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of patient tine in andiime out in the patient’s chart(id. § 247), the government nonetheless
establishes materialityith other allegationsFirst, the Pennsylvania Code prohibits providers
from submitting a claim th&misrepresents the description of the services . . . provided.” 55 Pa.
Code. § 1101.75(a)(8). And, second, the government alleges that, in 2009 aral 2012,
Pennsylvania Medicaid administratssessed an overpaymaititen itfound that the Lehigh

Valley clinics were not documenting start and éintes (Gov't Compl. 11 248, 250.A

healthcare administrator met with Chlebowski in 2011 and again in 2012 “to discuss aading st
and end times to patients’ charge notes for medication management; however, Chlelsbwski di
not implement the requiremehnt(ld. 11249, 250.) These allegations are sufficientdmpport an
inferencethat the gvernment refuses to pay claims in the mine run of cases when it knows the
provider did not meet thigteen-minute minimum odocumentlock times

C. Unqualified Therapists (Count VI)

The governmentlleges that all defendants except for Carolina violated the FCA by
submitting claims to Medicaid and Medicare for the services of people purpaortieg t
therapists but who in fact had not completed the requisite maségrees.(Gov't Compl. Y
284-94.) Defendants argue thtte complainfails to showmaterialitybecause it allegabata
Pennsylvanidealthcare administrateras aware of at least some of these violatibosdoes
not allege that itefused to pay claims for these services or pursued recoupment or FCA claims
against the clinicsHowever, | hold thatyhile materiality is vitiated wherthe governmenpays
currentclaims itknows to be fraudulentt, is not defated on a motion to siniss by the
suggestionn the complaint that healthcare administrators didseek redres®r pastimproper

billings.
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UnderEscobarthe governmerg payment otlaims “despite its actual knowledge that
certain requirements were violatad “very stong evidence” that the requirements are not
material. 136 S. Ct. at 2003—04. Thus the government knowledge argument against materiality

requires bottactualknowledgethat claims are fraudulent and actual payneéhese claims

despite this knowledgdd. Actual knowledge is different from a strong suspicion that the

claims were fraudulentEscobar842 F.3d at 110-12; U.S v. Pub. Warehousing Co., No. 1:05-

CV-2968-TWT, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 37643, at *18 (N.D. Ga. Mar. 16, 2017). Andh
payment 6the claims despite this knowledge requitest the knowledge and the payment occur
contemporaneously; a decision not to recoup payment or file an FCA claim based ols@ast fa
claims is not the same as a decision to pelgian.

However, courts mustdar in mind that the FCA isot meant to provide a remedy for
violations that the regulatory agency itself would not enfokvdkins, 659 F.3d at 310-11.
While the government’s decision not to recoup overpayments or pursue an FCA clamtmay
be “verystrong evidence” of a lack of materiality, it splovides some evidencee&
D’Agostino, 845 F.3d at 8-9 (mentionitigatthe fact that the Center for Medicare and Medicaid
“has not denied reimbursement for [the drug] in the waK#hefrelator’'s]allegations casts
serious doubt on the materiality of the” alleged violatjons

Although the government alleges that Pennsylvania healthcare adatonstvere aware
of past violations of the requirement that therapists meet certain qualificahiisns, not
sufficiently strong evidence agaimaateriality to require dismissallhe governmeris
allegations of the healthcare administrators’ knowledge are all with resgettwledge
acquired in audits of past billings: the auditors allegedly diseovinat the clinics were billing

for unqualified therapists in 2003, 2005, 2007, 2009 and 2013. (Gov't Compl. 1 286, 288.)
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Althoughthe governmentoes notllege that thé€ennsylvanid&ealthcare administrators sought

to recoup these payments, everuioit alleges it did stor violations of other requirements,

seeid. 111248, 250, a decision not to recoup payment or pursue an FCA claim is not equivalent to
a decision to pay a claim despite knowing of the violation. Therefore, to the ex$esnigtiment
undermines the government’s showingradterality, it does not persuade me that the

government has failed to state a claim

D. Unsupervised Therapy (Count VII)

The cefendants argue that the government’s allegatiotisrespect to it$CA claim
against Martinez, Chlebowski, Eroh, Northeast, and Lehigh Valley for subgnitaims for
auxiliary personnel who were not adetpha supervised by a physiciao not contain agjuate
facts (Clinic Defs.” Mot. to Dismissat 17.) Under Rule 9(bJit is sufficient for a plaintiff to
allegeparticular details of a scheme to submit false claims paired with reliable indiciaatia
to a strong infenece that claims were actually submittedroglia 754 F.3cat 156 Here, the
government has done so byirg specific dates and the numbers of claims billed as well as the
number of physicians osite for several clinics during this time.

The government provides examples of dates on which there were insufficientgisy/sic
on-site to supervise the numbéranixiliary personnel for whom the clinics billedfflor
example, for dates of service May 25, May 31, and June 23, 2012, Lehigh Valley submitted 95
claims to Medicare for psychotherapy (code 90806) under the NPl numbers of skeaigbf
Valley's psychiatrists even though “[tjventy-four out of the 95 paid claims were for therapy
sessions conducted by auxiliary personnel when no psychiatrist was prekertdli@ic site to
supervise.” (Gov't Compl. §§ 308-11.5imilarly, in Northeast, on Tueags in 2011 and 2012

.. .there were only two physiciarsone of whom was half day only—to supervise auxiliary
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personnel seeing Medicare patients at the four Northeast clinic qile¢sY 312.) On these
occasions, Medicare paid claims “as if the phgsidhiad himself performed the serviceld. (1
309, 313.) Eroh submitted or supervised the submissithresé claims despite knowing that
they described impossible circumstanc@d. 11260, 303, 304.)These allegations are sufficient
to support atsong inference that that the clinics were improperly bilfing.

E. Common Law Claims(Counts X, X, and XI)

The government also brings three common law claimg&yment by mistake oatt
(count nine), unjust enrichmefaount teh and common lawr&ud(count elevel'® The
defendants argue that the complaint’s failure to identify under which skateisis proceeding
requires dismissal of these claims. Howewaélithe alleged events in the complaints took place
in either Pennsylvania or North Carolina, and defendants have not described di¢f@nehose
states’ laws with respect to these claims that wptagent defendants from being put on notice
of the claims against thenTherefore, this omission does not mandhseissal of the claims.
| conclude thathie government has stated a claim under these three common law theories
for the same reasons that it has stated a claim under the FCA.

1. Mistake of Factand Unjust Enrichment

Under general priciples of restitution, where a persandkes a payent by mistake to a
person not entitled to receive the fund®)] is entitled to a return of these funds to avoid unjust

enrichment, unless the recipient of the funds has changed his position to his detrim&rtde rel

15 The defendants do not make a separate argument regarding the government’s count
eight, which alleges the Martinez, Chlebowski, Eroh, Northeast, and Lehigtyvallated the
FCA by avoiding repayment obligations. As | hold that the government hasaiztaoh with
respect to the other FCA counts, | will similarly decline to dismiss count eight.

16 Counts nine and ten, for payment by mistake of fact and unjust enrichment, are brought
against Martinez, Chlebowski, Northeast, Lehigh Valley, Carolina, MM Conssiltamid MCM
Bethlehem. Count eleven, for common law fraud, is against all defendants.
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on this payment.”"HarleysvilleMut. Ins. Co. v. Cramsey, No. 2001-C-2972, 2003 Pa. Dist. &

Cnty. Dec. LEXIS 559, at *10 (Pa. C.P. Dec. 8, 2003) (Lehigh Ceé@ alsdJnited States v.

Albinson, No. 09-1791 (DRD), 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 83644, at *53-54 (D.N.J. Aug. 16, 2010)
(“Payment nder mistake of fact and unjust enrichment are essentially duplicative anteseek t
same relief.”). A party seeking to plead unjust enrichmenistallege:

(1) a benefit conferred on the defendant by the plaintiff; (2)
appreciation of the benefit by tdefendant; and (3) the

defendans acceptareand retention of the benefit under such
circumstances that it would be inequitable for defendant to retain
the benefit without payment of value.

Giordano v. Claudio, 71E. Supp. 2d 508, 53(E.D. Pa.2010) (quotingFilippi v. City of Erie,

968 A.2d 239, 24ZPa.Commw. 2009));see alsd’rimerica Life Ins. v. James Massengill &

Sons Constr. Co., 712 S.E.2d 670, 677 (N.C. App. 2011) (describisgrieelementsnder

North Carolina law).
The government’s allegations supportthg claim are the same as thesgportinghe
FCA claims, as are the defendargsgguments to dismisd.will therefore denythe defendants’

motion to dismiss.SeeU.S. exrel. Monahan v. Robert Wood Johnson Univ. Hosp., No. 02-

5702, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 38898, at *26—28 (D.N.J. May 6, 2009) (holdingltiats for
payment by mistake of fact and unjust enrichnvegrite adequately pled where allegations state a
claim for fraud under the FCA).

2. Common Law Fraud

Where a party has pled FCA liability, it will also have pled common law fraugépéxc
that common law fraud also requires allegations of reliance or damiagesbay 136 S. Ctat
1999(*[T]he term fraudulent’is a paradigmatic example of a statuttaym that incorporates

the commonraw meaning of fraud); United States v. Albinson, No. 09-1791, 2010 U.S. Dist.
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LEXIS 83644, at *51 (D.N.J. Aug. 16, 2010T ke principal difference between a FCA cause of
action and one for common law fraud is that the FCA does not require reliance or sil@mnage

see als&owell v. Butcher & Singer, Inc., 926 F.2d 289, 296 (3d Cir. 1991) (requiring a plaintiff

claiming fraud under Pennsylvania law to show justifiable reliance and danages3 v. Neal,
649 S.E.2d 382, 387 (N.C. 2007). Because the governmenitdgedasignificant damages here,
(seeGov’'t Compl. 11 2, 10%alleging the clinics collected approximately $75 million in
payments from Medicare and Medicaid from 2009 through 20t123s statd a claim for
common law fraud.

F. Piercing the Corporate Veil

MCM Bethlehemand MM Consultantargue that the government failed to state an FCA
claim against theirf becausét does not allege th#teysubmitted or caused to be submitted any
claims to the gvernment.(Clinic Defs.” Mot to Dismissl8; Martinez Defs.” Mot. for J. on the
Pleadings 16.) Ae governmermdrgues it has stated a claim against the companies by alleging
conspiracy under the FCA, payment by mistake of fact/unjust enrichment, amdHaating that
the common law remedy of piercing the corporate igaappropriate here. (Gov’'t Opp’n to
Martinez Defs.’ Mot for J. on the Pleadings 10—1%))find that the government has alleged
facts to support a claim teversepiercethe corporate veil against thedefendants.

While veil-piercing involvesaccessing corporate owner or shareholdeassetdo

enforce a judgment against the corporatioaverse” veilpiercing involves using corporate

" The government brings claims agaiNi#l Consultants and MCM Bethlehem in
counts one, two, six, nine, ten, and eleven.

8|n its firstresponse, the governmteargued that it can recover against the company
under the Federal Debt Collection Procedures Act (FDCPA)'s fraudulesfdrastatute, 28
U.S.C. § 3306(a). (Gov't Opp’n to Mots. Dismiss 39-40.) The defendants pointed out in reply
that the governmentewer identified a claim under the FDCPA in its complaint. (Clinic Defs.’
Reply in Support of Mot. to Dismiss 8.) The government thereafter put forth the arguments
discussed here.
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assets to satisfy judgment against its owneln re Blatstein 192 F.3d 88, 100 (3d Cir. 1999).
As with regular veHpiercing, reverse vepiercing should only be employed in order to prevent

fraud, illegality, injustice, or a contravention of public polidg.; Pearsorv. Component Tech.

Corp., 247 F.3d 471, 484 (3d Cir. 2001).evaluating whether vepiercing is appropriate, a
court should considevhetherthe company failetb observe corporate formalities, had
functioning officers and directors, or keqarporate record@nd whether the owner atite
corporation comingled funds so tl#te corporation is merely a facade for the operations of the
owner.” Pearson247 F.3d at 484—-8Blatstein 192 F.3d at 101These factors are not
“elements of a rigid test"ather, he key inquiry is “whether the debtor corporationtitdimore

than a legal fiction.”"Pearson247 F.3d at 485 chwartzman v. Stinson, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS

156171, at *8-10 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 31, 2012) (applyengerse corporate veiiercingwhere a
corporation’s sole founder and owner used the corporation as a conduit for his persts)al asse

With respect to MM Consultants and MCM Bethlehem, the government has alletged fac
that, taken as trueyficiently allege that reverse veiliercing is appopriate

1. MM Consultants

The government alleges that, in late 2007, Martinez formed MM Consultants as a
Pennsylvania limited liability company registered at Martinez and Chlebeasimhe address.
(Gov't Compl. § 39.) Martinez controls MM Consultants #melincome it generatesld() MM
Consultants currently owns all or part of three different clinic sites; Natthé®aby” clinic,

(id. at 1 40); Lehigh Valley’s North™7Street clinic, id. at § 41); and Lehigh Valley’s Bethlehem
clinic, (id. at  £.) Martinez transferred the “Baby” clinic to MM Consultants in 2008. {(
40, Ex. M.)

The government alleges MM Consultants is concealing Martinez’s rec¢ef# dlinics’

profits through rent payments and imberest loans (Id. at § 39.) Northast pays Martinez/MM
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Consultants $7,000 each momihrent for its use(ld. at Ex. M.) Lehigh Valley gave Martinez

a $50,000 no-interest loan (via check made out to Chlebowski) to help pay for his half of the
purchase price of the Nortf{ Btreet Propety, which MM Consultants and Lehigh Valley

bought together. 1d. at 1 41, 187 187.) Martinez then used the property as collateral to obtain a
$600,000 loan. I4. at  187.) Lehigh Valley leases the property from MM Consultants for
$9,600 per month.Id. at I 36.) MM Consultants also purchased a parking lot across the street
from another Lehigh Valley clinic, Bethlehem, and leases it to the compofati $2,000 per

month. (d. at 42.)

Additionally, the government alleges the clinics confepeadits to Martinez by making
improvements on three different occasions to MM Consultants’ properties ahibg’ expense
(id. at 7 118, 191): In 2012, Northeast paid $50,000 to expand the Baby clinic sitéf(id.
193); in 2012, Lehigh Valley paid $200,000 to renovate and expand the Ndsthegt property,
(id. 1 192); and the same year, Lehigh Valley paid $700,000 to renovate and expand MM
Consultants’ Bethlehem clinic siteld( 193.)

2. MCM Bethlehem

Chlebowski created MCM Bethlehem as a Pglvasia limited liability corporation in
September 2013, with a registered address at her and Martinez’s home addr&§s43)(She
“formed MCM Bethlehem after she became aware of the government’s investigfation
Martinez’s involvement in the clinitshat preceded its intervention in this caskl.)(Martinez
then transferred the ownership of several clinic sites to MCM Bethlehem, mgluehigh
Valley's Bethlehem clinicig. 1 30, and Lehigh Valley's 4 Street clinicid. 1 44.) MCM

Bethlehen now rents the"Street clinic to Lehigh Valley for $8,000 per montkd.)(
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These facts are sufficient to show that MM Consultants and MCM Bethlehem
commingled assets with Martinez and Chlebowski anacsed as facade fotheir operations.
Therebre, | will not dismiss the claims againkem.

V. CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, defendants’ motions to dismiss and for judgment on the

pleadingsare denied

An appropriate Order follows.
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